

D2.2 Multi-hazard scenario building methods



This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 101093806. The publication reflects only the authors' views and the European Union is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.





D2.2 Multi-hazard scenario building methods

Summary

Deliverable 2.2. of ICARIA outlines details relating to mathematical approaches and models that can be applied for quantifying the joint probabilities of compound multi-hazard events. The deliverable provides details as to the type of compound events that are to be modelled across the three case studies and through the review of previous works on multi-hazard modelling provides approaches for defining joint probabilities based on both correlation and physical interactions between modelled hazards.

Deliverable number	Work package			
D2.2	W	/P2		
Deliverable lead beneficiary	Deliverable author(s)	Contributor(s)		
Organisation	Barry Evans (UNEXE)	Albert Chen (UNEXE)		
Internal reviewer(s)	External r	reviewer(s)		
Giulio Zuccaro (PLINIVS)	Fausto Guzzetti (PAB)			
Planned delivery date	Actual de	livery date		
29/02/2024	28/02	2/2024		
Dissemination level	 ✓ PU = Public □ PP = Restricted to other progra □ RE = Restricted to a group spe Please specify: □ CO = Confidential, only for merce 	mme participants cified by the consortium. nbers of the consortium		

Document history								
Date	Version	Author	Comments					
02/02/2024	1.0	Barry Evans (UNEXE)	Initial draft version for internal review					
19/02/2024	2.0	Barry Evans (UNEXE)	Revised version based on feedback from internal and external review					
28/02/2024	3.0	Barry Evans (UNEXE)	Final version for submission incorporating final suggestions					





Table of contents

1. List of Figures	4
2. List of Tables	6
3. List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	7
4. Executive summary	8
1 Introduction	9
2 Objectives of deliverable	11
3 Background on multi-hazard scenarios	12
3.1 From single to multi-hazard perspective	12
3.2 Classifications of multi-hazard scenarios	13
5.1.1 Compound Coincident Hazards	16
5.1.2 Compound Consecutive Hazards	18
6 Summary overview of compound hazards to be modelled within ICARIA	20
6.1 Summary of physical interactions between modelled hazards in ICARIA	20
6.2 Flooding (Pluvial) and Storm Surge	21
6.2.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	21
6.2.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	23
6.3 Flooding and Extreme Wind	23
6.3.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	23
6.3.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	25
6.4 Drought and heatwave	25
6.4.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	25
6.4.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	25
6.5 Drought and Forest Fire	26
6.5.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	26
6.5.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	27
6.6 Heatwave and forest fire	27
6.6.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	27
6.6.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	27
6.7 Extreme Wind and forest fire	28
6.7.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	28
6.7.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	28
6.8 Heat Wave, drought, and forest fire	28
6.8.1 Physical hazards description and interactions	28
6.8.2 Considered climate variable dependencies	29
7 Modelling dependencies between hazards being assessed within ICARIA	31
7.1 Defining joint probabilities of compound hazard events	33
7.1.1 Identification and selection of hazard drivers	33





7.1.2 Joint probability distributions and correlation	33				
7.2 Defining multi-hazard scenarios for current and future climate scenarios					
7.2.1 Selection of compound hazard characteristics	34				
7.3 Modelling interactions between hazards	35				
7.3.1 Markov chains	35				
7.3.2 Monte Carlo Simulation	37				
7.3.3 Bayesian Networks	39				
7.4 Quantifying and visualising hazards for compound events	41				
8 Conclusions	45				
References	46				
Annex A: Data Management Statement					





1. List of Figures

Figure 1. Summary of the Trial and Mini-Trials for each case study in ICARIA (ICARIA. 2023a)	10
Figure 2. Percentage of published articles found through Google Scholar Search in Jan 2024, that mention the terms "multi-hazard" and "climate"	12
Figure 3. Example of how MYRIAD-HESA operates without a time-lag. This figure shows both hazard pairs and hazard groups. (a) Hazards are a hazard group if all hazards overlap with each other in space and time as a pair. Here, there are two hazard groups, which are referred to as Events. Event 1 is encompassed by the black solid line, while Event 2 is encompassed by the black dashed line. Event 1 consists of three hazard pairs between Hazard 1, 2, and 3. Event 2 consists of one hazard pair between Hazard 3 and 4. (b) A dynamic hazard has to overlap with the other hazards during at least one of the overlapping time-steps. Here, Hazard 1 is a dynamic hazard. Therefore, its event polygon can change over time. Hazard 2 and Hazard 3 are not dynamic hazards. Their polygons remain the same between their start time and end time (Claassen et al. 2023).	14
Figure 4. Timeline of events showing compound (coincident, causally or not causally correlated, and consecutive) events and cascading effects where "H" is Hazard, and "I" is Impact. The influence of key-variables (i.e., time, space and human behaviour) in the risk/impact/resilience assessment process has been considered (modified after Zuccaro et al., 2018) (ICARIA. 2023b).	15
Figure 5. Conceptual view of defining likelihood of compound coincident events	16
Figure 6. Conceptual view of defining likelihood of compound consecutive events	18
Figure 7. Hazard interrelationship matrix for modelled hazards within ICARIA (ICARIA. 2023c)	21
Figure 8. Typical intensity duration curves (Butler et al., 2018)	22
Figure 9. Map of reports relating to the severity of storm surges recorded over coastal areas in Europe during Storm Xaver (Kettle, 2020)	22
Figure 10. Contours of the design joint RP for rainfall and tide level (Xu Kui AND Ma, 2014), and (b) hazard surfaces for rainfall, river flow, and surges (Ming et al., 2022)	23
Figure 11. (a) Schematic diagram of Typhoon induced landslide (b) Principle of the preferential infiltration boundary (Zhuang et al. 2023)	24
Figure 12. Schematic diagram of the mechanism of drought-heatwave compound events (Wang et al., 2023)	26
Figure 13. Components used within FWI derivation	27
Figure 14. Flowchart describing the methodology and data adopted in study by Sutanto et al., (2020)	29
Figure 15. Example of Climatic model MPI/RCP8.5/number of days/year FWI > 50: period: 2036–2045 (Sfetsos et al., 2021).	30
Figure 16. Holistic modelling framework for multi-hazard risk/impact/resilience assessment, covering combined events and their cascading effects. Main elementary bricks are represented (modified after Zuccaro et al., 2018 and Russo et al., 2023)	31
Figure 17. A multi-hazard risk assessment framework for compound flooding (Ming et al., 2022)	32
Figure 18. Conceptual framework for generating multi-hazard scenarios that considers frequency analysis, physical interactions, and feedback mechanisms for dependency analysis and consecutive hazard modelling	33





Figure 19. Example simplified Markov chain depicting two hazards	36
Figure 20. Adjacency matrix representation of example Markov chain	37
Figure 21. Transition from normal to affected by wind hazard then flood hazard states	37
Figure 22. Tracing Markov chain of Hazard X followed by Hazard Y	38
Figure 23. Conceptual framework of risk based BN for flood risk assessment (Harris et al., 2022)	40
Figure 24. Conceptual Bayes Network for compound flooding for defined RPs	41
Figure 25. Magnitude-Frequency depiction of hazards (Kunz and Hurni., 2008)	42
Figure 26. Example generation of probability distribution curves for compound consecutive hazard scenarios	42
Figure 27. Classifying magnitude-frequency relationships for modelled hazards into three classes	43
Figure 28. Determination of limit state probability (single hazard) (Lee and Rosowsky., 2006)	44





2. List of Tables

Table 1. Multi-hazard scenarios to be modelled within ICARIA		20
Table 2. Example transition states		36
Table 3. Sample of ARMONIA hazard intensity classification matrix for a regional scale (Ka 2022)	appes et al.,	41
Table 4. Example equations for deriving CDF values for hazard classes		43





3. List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

AMB	Àrea Metropolitana de Barcelona
BN	Bayesian Networks
FWI	Fire Weather Index
Ρ	Probability
RP	Return Period
SAR	South Aegean Region
SLZ	Salzburg
SPEI	Standard Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index
SSPs	Shared Socio-Economic Pathways
WP	Work Package





4. Executive summary

This document outlines work undertaken within the ICARIA project that seeks to develop an asset level modelling framework for assessing the potential implications of climate driven hazards that also considers the complexities associated with compound and cascading disasters. To demonstrate this framework the methods and tools developed in this project will be trialled across three selected regions in Europe (Barcelona, Salzburg, and South Aegean Regions).

With the effects of global warming leading to increased likelihood of compound hazard events there is the need for regions to develop means to facilitate multi-hazard analyses and assess how combinations of compound hazards can affect different sectors and find cost effective means to mitigate against such events. The previous deliverable 2.1. "Holistic modelling framework for multi-hazards and related uncertainty analysis" outlined the hazards being analysed within the respective case studies in the context of both single and compound hazard events, along with the physical modelling tools to be adopted and a summary of potential hazard interactions. This document expands on this work through defining methods that can be employed for developing multi-hazard scenarios, defining the likelihood of such scenarios occurring, and their potential consequences.

This deliverable (D2.2) consolidates information and results obtained throughout Task 2.2 "Extreme multi-hazards and modelling scenarios" within Work Package 2 (Modelling and Multi-Hazard assessment) of the ICARIA project.

The main objectives of this document can be summarised as follows:

- Outline the types of multi-hazard scenarios being modelled within ICARIA
- Provide overview of mathematical models for quantifying the joint probabilities of compound hazard events that considers:
 - Interdependency between hazards
 - Causality in hazard drivers
 - Uncertainties
- Outline approaches used for the modelling and quantification of compound hazard events
 - Joint Probability Analysis
 - Markov Chains
 - Monte Carlo Simulations
 - Bayesian Networks
 - o Approaches for representation and visualisation of data from multi-hazard scenarios





1 Introduction

Between 1980 and 2020 there were around 1,117 reported natural disasters within the European Union (EU) and of those, over 93% were weather- and climate related (Gagliardi et al., 2022). Considering the implications of climate change it is expected that the frequency and severity of such events will increase. As such, effective steps and measures need to be implemented to mitigate against them (UNDRR, 2015). The potential devastating effects of these events will have greater implications to regions that are susceptible to multiple climate driven hazards. To combat this a "multi-hazard" assessment approach that considers variations in the location, extent, intensity, and frequency of these climate extremes will need to be considered (Forzieri et al., 2016).

As part of the Horizon Europe project **ICARIA**, funded by the European Commission, a comprehensive asset level framework for analysing the complexities and consequences that multi-hazard events may have to selected regions in Europe is being developed.

The framework being developed in ICARIA will assess the effects of six climate-driven hazards (Floods, Storm Surge, Heatwaves, Droughts, Forest Fires, and Storm winds) across three EU countries (Greece, Spain, and Austria). These hazards will be modelled individually, and as part of multi-hazard scenarios that consider compound coincident hazards (overlapping in space and time), and compound consecutive hazards (overlapping in space but occurring sequentially). These assessments will take place in the form of Trials and Mini-Trials within the respective case studies.

The "Trials", in this instance, will be carried out in the scope of "best case study" scenarios, where there is already good data availability and tools/experience in place to implement the models. The "Mini-Trials", in contrast, refer to adapting the modelling framework developed in the trials to derive assessments where the quality of available data may not be to the same standard as that used within the trials.





		BARCELONA METROPOLITAN AREA					.	SOUTH AEGEAN REGION						SALZBURG REGION				
			Trial		м	ini trial		Tri	ial		Mini t	rial		Trial		N	4ini tria	ıl
Haza	ards	<u>D</u>	() <mark>(ዓቦ</mark>			×	ž () 2000 2000 2000	کی ج <mark>رک</mark> محمد ()		مر)(((ار				,	J	*****	
Risk rece	ptors					o∲ [査 [<u>~</u>
Caso effec	cading cts		<u>₹</u>			食		₩ 2							食			<u>₹</u>
Hazards Risk receptor					eceptors							Comp	lex ever	nts				
A	() <mark>(ዓቦ</mark>			x	C			φ <u></u>		0	食		200					
Floods	Storm surges	Heat waves	Forest fires	Droughts	Storm winds	Tourism	Properties	Natural areas	Transport	Water assets	Electricity assets	Waste assets	People	Compound hazards	Cascading effects on assets	3		

Figure 1. Summary of the Trial and Mini-Trials for each case study in ICARIA (ICARIA. 2023a)





2 Objectives of deliverable

Work Package 2 (WP2) within ICARIA focuses on the hazard component of the risk/impact assessment across the three case studies. Previous work from Task 2.1 (summarised in Deliverable 2.1 "Holistic modelling framework for multi-hazards and related uncertainty analysis"):

- introduced the three case study regions being assessed within ICARIA,
- the climate driven hazards that are to be modelled within these case studies,
- the tools being utilised to model these hazards,
- the physical interactions between different modelled hazards,
- and some historical data relating to multi-hazard events.

This deliverable builds upon this, considering the physical interactions/interdependencies between hazards to derive mathematical models/approaches for quantifying the probabilities of combined and compound multi-hazards under various scenarios, whilst also considering uncertainties caused by different environmental and humanitarian drivers. The models/approaches outlined within this document will be later adopted/developed by the case studies in later tasks based on their best fit for the data and hazards being modelled.





3 Background on multi-hazard scenarios

3.1 From single to multi-hazard perspective

The IPCC report 2022 outlined that as a consequence of global warming the number of compound hazards is increasing with particular emphasis on concurrent heatwaves and droughts, followed by dangerous fire weather, and floods (IPCC 2022). Typically, however, a common approach for modelling the consequences of climate extreme events is carried out in a "one at a time" manner (Russo et al., 2023).

To fully understand the risks a region is exposed to, a multi-hazard and multi-sectoral perspective is needed, allowing for a more comprehensive understanding of risks and highlighting more efficient ways to mitigate against them (Sendai Framework, 2015). Therefore, to more fully encapsulate the risks that climate driven events may experience within a region, for both current day and future scenarios, a framework for assessing multi-hazard events is required. This adoption of multi-hazard assessment approaches has been gaining traction over the years. Recent analysis of scientific publications within Google scholar of articles that discuss climate hazards that include the term "multi-hazard" in their document shows an increase over the last two decades with an accelerated increase in recent years (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Percentage of published articles found through Google Scholar Search in Jan 2024, that mention the terms "multi-hazard" and "climate"





Transitioning from a single hazard modelling approach to a multi-hazard modelling approach is without its challenges since (1) the metric used to quantify the magnitudes of different hazard types may differ, and (2) there may be interdependencies between hazards where one hazard may influence the behaviour/characteristics, probability of occurrence of another hazard (Forzieri et al., 2016). In addition, a common approach used for interpreting the severity of independent hazard events is in terms of their probability of occurrence where more extreme events are deemed to be less likely to occur. However, when considering compound hazard events there may be causal relationships between them meaning the probability of Hazard Y occurring may be different if Hazard X is or has already occurred. Therefore, for hazards that share dependencies the probabilities. For example, the probability of a wildfire occurring in a region that is experiencing drought can differ to that of a region that is not experiencing drought. In such scenarios where the probability of something changes based on new information, Bayes theorem can be applied (Bayes theorem is explained in more detail later in this document). Therefore, their respective interdependencies, and the causal relationships.

3.2 Classifications of multi-hazard scenarios

Within the ICARIA framework we are examining the implication of compound hazard events over time for both current and future climate change scenarios along with future Shared Socio-Economic Pathways (SSPs). For ease of definition, from the hazard modelling perspective we regard a multi-hazard event as being an event where the modelled hazards are affecting the same region (have overlapping spatial extents). With the spatial definition specified, from the temporal aspect we can consider multi-hazard events as:

4 Compound Coincident

Two or more hazards with overlapping spatial extents occurring either simultaneously or with overlapping timeframes. For instance, a low lying coastal region affected by compound flooding events due to storm surge coinciding with pluvial flooding.

5 Compound Consecutive

Two or more hazards (dependent or independent) with overlapping spatial extents but in place of overlapping time frames these events are occurring in sequence where the effects of previous hazard/s still influence the risk/impact of current hazard. For example, a sloped forested region previously impacted from extreme wind may have reduction in tree canopy cover resulting in increased surface runoff from rainfall events resulting in increased flooding.

From the modelling perspective, multiple hazards with overlapping spatial and temporal extents can be regarded as a multi-hazard event. Figure 3 from Claassen et al. (2023) depicts how different hazards can be grouped together into "events" based on the overlap of their spatial and temporal extents. In this example of four consecutive hazards we observe that two "events" can be derived where event 1 consists of hazards 1, 2, and 3, and event 2 consists of hazards 3 and 4. An additional





consideration in this example is that the extent of hazards can change over time such as that highlighted in Figure 3 (b).



Figure 3. Example of how MYRIAD-HESA operates without a time-lag. This figure shows both hazard pairs and hazard groups. (a) Hazards are a hazard group if all hazards overlap with each other in space and time as a pair. Here, there are two hazard groups, which are referred to as Events. Event 1 is encompassed by the black solid line, while Event 2 is encompassed by the black dashed line. Event 1 consists of three hazard pairs between Hazard 1, 2, and 3. Event 2 consists of one hazard pair between Hazard 4. (b) A dynamic hazard has to overlap with the other hazards during at least one of the overlapping time-steps. Here, Hazard 1 is a dynamic hazard. Therefore, its event polygon can change over time. Hazard 2 and Hazard 3 are not dynamic hazards. Their polygons remain the same between their start time and end time (Claassen et al. 2023).

Based on these definitions of compound events, ICARIA is seeking to create a framework for modelling hazard chain pathways (Figure 4) that depicts a chain of events that begins within an initial triggering event and captures potential interactions with other hazards and triggering events over time along with consideration of future scenarios. To capture the implications of a chain of events like that depicted in Figure 4, we need to consider/define the interrelationships between the hazards. For this we consider the interrelationships for compound hazards outlined in Hielkema et al., (2021) where they can be defined as:





- **Independent**: Although hazards affecting the same region either simultaneously or in sequence, there is no triggering relationship or dependence between them. An example being an earthquake followed by a tropical storm.
- **Triggering or Cascading**: The effect of one hazard results in the triggering of subsequent hazard/s. For example, an earthquake followed by a tsunami.
- **Change conditions**: The environmental conditions within a region are changed as such where one hazard influences the likelihood of a secondary hazard occurring. For instance drought changing conditions of vegetation within landscape which in turn alters the likelihood of wildfire ignition
- Association: Where two or more hazards are the result of the same triggering event. Such as an extreme rainfall event occurring in a region with sloped terrain leading to flooding and landslides.



Figure 4. Timeline of events showing compound (coincident, causally or not causally correlated, and consecutive) events and cascading effects where "H" is Hazard, and "I" is Impact. The influence of key-variables (i.e., time, space and human behaviour) in the risk/impact/resilience assessment process has been considered (modified after Zuccaro et al., 2018) (ICARIA. 2023b).





5.1.1 Compound Coincident Hazards

For compound coincident hazards we are assuming that two or more hazards are affecting the same region within the same time frame and as such their compounding effects may result in a greater severity of hazard where each hazard can amplify the effect of the other. For instance the raising of water levels along a coast due to a storm surge can, in addition to coastal flooding, prevent the storm sewers from discharging to the sea, this reduction in drainage capacity from the catchment can result in further increases of flooding from pluvial side, this excess water can result in greater flood depths across the region including the low lying areas already affected by coastal flooding. To analyse the implications of such a scenario we need to define the causal relationship of these hazards occurring in the same region at the same time along with their physical interactions/interdependencies. Figure 5 provides a conceptual view for simulation of a compound coincident hazard. In this example the probability of occurrence is the joint probability of the event and is determined via the correlation of the hazard drivers and/or the physical interactions between the hazards. The resulting compound effects of the hazard are described by the physical interactions between hazards in this manner it is thus important to determine whether they are or are not causally correlated.



Figure 5. Conceptual view of defining likelihood of compound coincident events

Non causally correlated: If the two or more hazards are triggered by independent factors with no causal relationship between them then they are regarded as Compound Coincident (Independent) hazards. An example of such a combination could be that of an extreme rainfall event occurring during an earthquake. Whilst the combined effects of these hazards could lead to greater risks/impacts than that if they were to occur independently, there is no correlation relating to them occurring simultaneously. In such a scenario the probability of both hazards coinciding would therefore relate to their marginal probabilities as given by (Eq. 1).

$$P(X \cap Y) = P(X) \times P(Y)$$
 Eq. 1





Where:

- P(X) = Probability of hazard X occurring
- P(Y) = Probability of hazard Y occurring

As an example, the probability of a 1 in a 100-year earthquake event (p_eq = 0.01) coinciding with a 1 in 100-year rainfall event (p_rf = 0.01) would thus be a 1 in a 10,000-year event (p_comb = 0.0001).

Causally Correlated: In contrast to the above, some compound coincident hazards may be causally correlated, sharing common drivers. One example is where the effects of the first hazard influence the probability of the other hazard occurring. For instance, due to the potential changes in the physical landscape of regions experiencing a drought the probability of a forest fire occurring within those regions could increase. One approach for determining the probabilities of these types of events is that of Bayes theorem whereby the probability of a given hypothesis can be updated when presented with new information (Eq. 2).

Posterior Probability =
$$\frac{\text{Likelihood} \times \text{Prior Probability}}{\text{Evidence Probability}}$$

$$P(X|Y) = \frac{P(Y|X) \times P(X)}{P(Y|X) \times P(X) + P(Y|\neg X) \times P(\neg X)} = \frac{P(Y|X) \times P(Y)}{P(X)}$$
Eq. 2

Where:

P(X|Y): Probability that X occurs given evidence or information Y (Posterior Probability)

P(Y|X): Probability of observing Y if the hypothesis X is true (Likelihood)

P(X): Probability of A being true (Prior probability)

 $P(Y|\neg X)$: Probability of observing Y given X is false

 $P(\neg X)$: Probability of the hypothesis X being false

P(Y): Probability of observing Y

For example, if we were to say the probability of a region being in drought P(X) is p = 0.15, and we derive from statistical analysis that probability of wildfire outbreak during a severe drought P(Y|X) is p = 0.7 and that probability of wildfire outbreak when no severe drought $P(Y|\neg X)$ (e.g. lightning strike, human activities) = 0.05. Substituting these values into equation 2 (Eq. 3), given a wildfire has occurred we can say that there was a(71% (p = 0.71) chance that it occurred during a drought.

$$P(X|Y) = \frac{0.7 \times 0.15}{(0.7 \times 0.15 + 0.05 \times (1 - 0.15))} = 0.71$$
 Eq. 3





In addition to the interdependence between hazards there may also be correlations with the hazard drivers. For example, tropical and extratropical cyclones generate strong winds that can push water towards the coast resulting in storm surges; simultaneously heavy rainfall events are common within the vicinity of these cyclonic events due to the moisture being drawn up from the sea surface. These two drivers can result in a causally dependent compound flooding events from storm surge with pluvial flooding. For such events the probability of them occurring together requires other modelling techniques are required to define the joint probability. A commonly adopted statistical approach for defining joint probabilities for causally correlated events involves the use of mathematical functions known as Copulas. These functions and their application are outlined in more detail later in this document.

5.1.2 Compound Consecutive Hazards

Compound consecutive hazard scenarios refer to hazards with overlapping spatial extents occurring in sequence. In this example a triggering event could be climate driven such as the influence of climate change resulting in increases frequency and intensity of rainfall events leading to flooding, or hazard driven where the occurrence of a hazard could be a direct consequence of a previous hazard, for example an earthquake triggering a tsunami or the effects of a heatwave increasing the likelihood and severity of a forest fire. The conceptual representation of this type of compound event differs from that of compound coincident hazard in that the two hazards are now separated by time (Δt) (Figure 6). For the analysis of effects of compound consecutive hazards we need to determine how the effects of one hazard in the region will influence both the likelihood and magnitude of a following hazard.





Within the scope of this document three kinds of compound consecutive hazards are considered





- Independent: In this scenario hazard Y has occurred after hazard X but they are not causally related. An example of this could be similar to that outlined earlier relating to earthquakes and severe rainfall events. Unlike the previous example however, they are not occurring at the same time where there could be a period of days, months, or even years between the earthquake occurring and then the extreme rainfall event.
- 2. **Triggering**: For a triggering event the effect of the first initial hazard results in the causation of a secondary hazard. For example fluvial flooding along the base of slopes can cause increased erosion along the base affecting the stability of soil upslope potentially leading to landslides.
- 3. **Change conditions**: Here the effects of the first hazard within a region have changed conditions within that region that makes the likelihood of other hazards occurring increase. For instance, an extreme rainfall event within a region previously devastated by a forest fire, could result in significantly more severe flooding due to changes in landscape leading to increased surface runoff.

For defining the joint probability of compound consecutive events occurring, we therefore need to determine:

- Probability of Hazard X occurring,
- Probability of Hazard Y occurring,
- Probability of Hazard Y occurring over time given Hazard X has occurred

These requirements for defining the joint probability of compound consecutive hazards align with that of Bayes theorem outlined in Eq 2.





6 Summary overview of compound hazards to be modelled within ICARIA

6.1 Summary of physical interactions between modelled hazards in ICARIA

As outlined earlier in Figure 1, six hazard types have been selected to model within this project using respective hazard modelling tools that are detailed in Deliverable 2.1. (ICARIA 2023c) From these six hazards, seven multi-hazard scenarios have been selected to model across the three case study regions (Table 1).

Multi-Hazard Scenarios	Selected Case Studies
Storm Surge and Flooding (Pluvial)	AMB, SAR
Flooding (Fluvial) and Extreme Wind	SLZ
Drought and Forest Fire	AMB, SAR
Drought and Heatwave	AMB, SAR, SLZ
Heatwave and Forest Fire	AMB, SAR
Extreme Wind and Forest Fire	AMB, SAR
Drought, Heatwave, and Forest Fire	AMB, SAR

Table 1. Multi-hazard scenarios to be modelled within ICARIA

Various works have been conducted over the years outlining the physical interactions between hazards such as in De Pippo et al. (2008), Kappes et al. (2012), Tsoutos (2023) whereby the interactions between hazards are summarised within an interaction matrix. Referencing these works a hazard interaction matrix was defined for the modelled hazards within ICARIA that outline three of their possible independent relationships (Figure 7). This matrix provides a summary overview of both the physical interactions between the modelled hazards and insight into their causal relationships. The following sections provide a review of previous studies relating to each of multi-hazard scenarios in more detail to describe their potential interdependencies and causal relationships in more detail as a means of defining a framework to be adopted within this project.







Figure 7. Hazard interrelationship matrix for modelled hazards within ICARIA (ICARIA 2023c)

6.2 Flooding (Pluvial) and Storm Surge

6.2.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

Sea level rise can increase the likelihood and severity of flooding due to backflow within the drainage system, and changes in boundary conditions at the land sea interface limiting the surface discharge capability.

From a single hazard modelling perspective IDF (Intensity, Duration, Frequency) curves can be utilised to define characteristics of synthetic rainfall events (Figure 8). Using these curves as reference, different extreme rainfall scenarios with defined probability of occurrences can be modelled to analyse the range of resulting flood hazards that can be generated. For instance, for a 1 in 10 year rainfall event, a flood model could be run with high intensity short duration hyetographs or low intensity but long duration hyetographs. Depending on the type of rainfall distribution being modelled and parameters relating to the catchment, for both these events that have the same return period, the flood extents could differ significantly.







Figure 8. Typical intensity duration curves (Butler et al., 2018)

For low lying coastal regions high tides, storm surges, and wave conditions can lead to significant coastal flooding, whilst also leading to increased flood risks further inland within river catchment areas. An example of such a recent storm surge event is Storm Xaver that impacted Europe in 2013 leading to localised surges across the east of UK coastline and west European coastlines with a severity equivalent up to greater than a 1 in 1000 year return period in some regions (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Map of reports relating to the severity of storm surges recorded over coastal areas in Europe during Storm Xaver (Kettle, 2020)





For compound flood events the influence of sea levels can affect the extent of flooding resulting from rainfall events by influencing regions capacity to discharge water at its boundaries, either directly from the surface or via the sewer systems. As such, storm surge events that coincide with extreme rainfall events can increase likelihood, trigger, and increase magnitude of flooding as reflected in Figure 7.

6.2.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

Previous works (Hawkes and Svensson, 2005; Xu et al., 2014; Zellou and Rahali, 2019; and Ming et al., 2022) examined the correlation between Storm Surges and Extreme rainfall events. In their work they identified correlations between different hazard drivers resulting in compound flood events. Figure 10 outlines an example of a bi-variate relationship depicting contours for tide level and rainfall (a), based on analysis of data from 1952 to 2009, and tri-variate surface depiction of compound rain, river flow, and surge events referencing to large historical data sets dating as far back as 1883 for flow data. In these examples, joint probability assessments were carried out, where historical data was analysed and through utilising Copula functions to define their interdependence relationships.



Figure 10. (a) Contours of the design joint RP for rainfall and tide level (Xu et al., 2014), and (b) hazard surfaces for rainfall, river flow, and surges (Ming et al., 2022)

6.3 Flooding and Extreme Wind

6.3.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

Extreme winds can influence the magnitude of fluvial flooding through altering the flowrate of the river and also limiting the river's ability to discharge downstream at the coastal boundaries if the storm winds are generating storm surges. An additional consideration relates to tree cover within mountainous regions, firstly the tree canopy serves as a protective buffer to incoming rainfall and





secondly, the root structure from forested areas serve to help soil cohesion, particularly within sloped mountainous terrains (Ali & Osman, 2008) like those regions found in Austria. Damage to the tree cover due to extreme wind events can thus result in increased precipitation reaching the surface and at high intensities resulting in greater surface runoff and increased risks of soil erosion and landslides. Zhuang et al. 2023, highlighted that whilst the root systems of vegetation play a role in slope stabilisation, in sloped regions that are exposed to high winds such as typhoon winds experienced in Southeast China, the stresses on soil root interface caused by high winds on trees can result in increased infiltration of water along the root system soil boundary interface resulting in greater instability and leading to increased likelihood of landslides (Figure 11).



Figure 11. (a) Schematic diagram of Typhoon induced landslide (b) Principle of the preferential infiltration boundary (Zhuang et al. 2023)

An additional consequence of the damage that extreme winds can cause to tree canopies relates to the indirect consequences of debris blocking channels and inlets. This blocking of flow pathways can also result in an increase in both magnitude and likelihood of flooding events.





6.3.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

Whilst extreme wind cannot trigger increased precipitation events the combination of extreme wind and high rainfall events are interlinked via climate drivers, where within the EU the combination of extreme wind and severe rainfall events are driven either by extra tropical cyclones or summertime convective events (EU Commission et al. 2017). Previous work by (Bloomfield. et al., 2023), using Spearman's Rank correlation, have highlighted correlation between the occurrence of winter extremes for flood damage and wind damage across the UK and also the EU. In their analysis they showed there was strong correlation between extreme precipitation and extreme winds from daily to seasonal resolution where the correlation to extreme wind and river flows showed strong correlation between 40 - 60 days (with the lag assumed to be likely time required for soil saturation). As such the correlation of extreme wind and rainfall events needs to be considered when defining the joint probability of compounding wind and flood events.

6.4 Drought and heatwave

6.4.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

In the scope of drought modelling within ICARIA, drought is being assessed in the context of hydrological drought. For the combination of drought and heatwave, the compounding effects of these two hazards are planned to be assessed based on the additional pressures water resources are subjected to.

6.4.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

The IPCC report in 2022 highlighted that as a result of global warming there is high confidence that there will be an increase in the frequency of concurrent heatwaves and droughts for future scenarios (IPCC, 2022). For heatwaves in ICARIA, they are regarded as temperature-related episodes with a duration equal or greater than three consecutive days where the temperature is above the 95% percentile of the maximum daily records for the months of June to September during the period of 1985 - 2014. In the context of droughts they are considered based on the number of consecutive dry days (days where a threshold rainfall amount e.g. 1mm has not been exceeded). For ICARIA the Standard Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) is being used to determine the onset, duration, and magnitudes of drought scenarios.

Previous work by Wang et al., (2023) analysed the relationship between compound droughts and heatwaves where they analysed the maximum temperature (Tmax) against monthly self calibrating Palmer drought severity index (sc-PDSI) dataset for both drylands and humid regions (Figure 12).







Figure 12. Schematic diagram of the mechanism of drought-heatwave compound events (Wang et al., 2023)

6.5 Drought and Forest Fire

6.5.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

The implications of drought on vegetation that serves as potential fuel source for forest fires leads to an increase in the probability of ignition and the rate of propagation of fires (Andrews et al., 2003; Scott & Burgan, 2005). In contrast, for periods of prolonged drought, the likelihood of fire ignition can reduce as the availability of fuels (vegetation) is reduced due die back from a lack of precipitation (NIDIS, 2024). As part of the forest fire modelling within ICARIA the creation of Fire Weather Index (FWI) scores for grid cells across the modelled regions will be generated. The derivation of these FWI scores comes from a number of parameters that relate to climate/weather drivers, fuel sources, and propagation (Figure 13). Within the compound modelling framework the effects of drought will influence the parameters used to define fuel sources thus affecting the resulting FWI scores.







Figure 13. Components used within FWI derivation

6.5.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

During periods of drought, the probability of forest fire events occurring can increase (Littell et al., (2016), Chen, (2022)). Unlike previous examples, there is no directly modelled climate dependency analysed here, instead the consequences of the modelled drought scenario relate to the derived "fuel moisture codes" which are the drivers that potentially increase the likelihood of forest fires occurring and the subsequent extent/spreading, and duration of the fire. Therefore, for this model analysis of historical data, and computational modelling for a range of potential scenarios that correspond to different severities of drought and durations can be utilised to define the joint probability of forest fire occurring during or after periods of drought.

6.6 Heatwave and forest fire

6.6.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

Like that of droughts and forest fires the linkages between heatwaves and forest fires are well known contributing to the drying of land and subsequent increase in fuel sources for forest fires Rossiello & Szema (2019). As outlined in the previous "Drought and forest fire" section, temperature features within the fire weather parameters and directly influences components relating to the fuel moisture codes used to derive FWIs.

6.6.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

The combination of high temperatures, low humidity, and strong winds, generally termed as "Fire Weather" plays an important driver of wildfires, and due to the effects of climate change the length of fire weather seasons is increasing (Richardson et al., (2022), Calvin et al., (2023)). Like that of the





drought and forest fire models the heatwave and drought models can assess the likelihood and severity of forest fire events based on different durations of heatwaves and temperature extremes.

6.7 Extreme Wind and forest fire

6.7.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

In addition to parameters relating to temperature and rainfall as utilised in the heatwave and drought models, wind also plays a significant factor in defining the FWI scores for a region (Figure 10). In addition to its consideration as part of the derivation of fuel moisture codes wind plays a direct role in the "fire spread" indices. Within the compound modelling the influence of extreme wind will be considered in the derivation of FWIs thus highlighting the potential compound effects of these hazards occurring simultaneously

6.7.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

In relation to correlation between wind and forest forest fires, regions that are susceptible to high winds may be at greater risk from forest fire events, in particular when considered with increased frequency of other fire weather drivers such as increased temperature, decreased rainfall, and prolonged periods of drought. An example of such conditions that has previously affected Austria was that of the Leppen, Bad Eisenkappel, Carinthia, forest fire in May 2020, that burnt an area of 23 hectares that was exacerbated by an ongoing drought in the region and persistent strong winds.

For the modelling climate dependencies for wind and forest fires, we must thus consider potential scenarios (both current and future) that implicitly take these additional aspects into consideration.

6.8 Heat Wave, drought, and forest fire

6.8.1 Physical hazards description and interactions

Previous sections have highlighted the relationships between these three hazards accordingly and based on these defined interactions the frameworks adopted will be integrated to explore this tri-variate combination of hazards. Previous analysis of these hazard interactions (Figure 14) at a pan-EU scale outlined in Sutanto et al., (2020) looked at both concurrent and consecutive hazards. Their findings found that drought were the main drivers for compound and cascading events.









6.8.2 Considered climate variable dependencies

For the climate variable dependency approaches used for defining the joint probability drought-heatwave scenarios will first be defined to build an initial range of hazard drivers that will then be utilised to derive fuel moisture codes and respective FWIs. Through using this approach we can generate FWI map outputs similar to that shown in Figure 15 that spatially define regions susceptible to increase risks of forest fires when during compound drought and heatwave scenarios.







Figure 15. Example of Climatic model MPI/RCP8.5/number of days/year FWI > 50: period: 2036–2045 (Sfetsos et al., 2021).





7 Modelling dependencies between hazards being assessed within ICARIA

The holistic modelling framework being applied in ICARIA is based on the "elementary brick model" (Figure 16) whereby the compound hazard and impact assessments are broken down into fundamental components ("bricks") to analyse their properties and interactions. In this approach both time and space are considered in the generation of impact scenarios based on combinations of hazards as outlined previously in Figure 4. Further details relating specifically to this holistic modelling framework can be found in Deliverable 1.1: ICARIA holistic modelling framework.



Figure 16. Holistic modelling framework for multi-hazard risk/impact/resilience assessment, covering combined events and their cascading effects. Main elementary bricks are represented (modified after Zuccaro *et al.*, 2018 and Russo *et al.*, 2023).

Within the impact scenario analysis section of the elementary brick model, we need to define the magnitude, duration, spatial extent, and likelihood of compound hazard events along with how the hazards influence the effects of each other. An approach outlined in Ming et al., (2022) represents the components of this section as three domains: **frequency analysis**, **flood simulation**, and **vulnerability and exposure analysis** derived from depth damage relationships defined in the multi-coloured manual to exposure (land-use classes) from the National Property Dataset (NPD) and Digimap that are then used for the multi-hazard risk assessment (Figure 17). In this approach the frequency analysis is used to define the joint probability distributions of modelled compound events;





selected events consisting of rainfall, river flow and storm surge values that define "joint extreme" scenarios are then physically modelled as part of the "flood simulation" domain.



Figure 17. A multi-hazard risk assessment framework for compound flooding (modified after Ming et al., 2022)

Within the hazard assessment component of the ICARIA modelling framework a generalised approach is defined where for different combinations of compound hazards and scenarios (both coincident and consecutive, methods for defining dependency analysis and physical interaction between hazards will be used to define the hazard inputs that will be linked to the vulnerability and subsequent risk/impact assessment components, with and without resilience determinants. Figure 18 shows a generalised version of the approach to be adopted within ICARIA whereby the dependency and physical interactions between hazards are assessed whilst the results from compound hazard simulations are utilised as part of risk/impact assessment and also used in the derivation of joint probability based on dependency analysis.







Figure 18. Conceptual framework for generating multi-hazard scenarios that considers frequency analysis, physical interactions, and feedback mechanisms for dependency analysis and consecutive hazard modelling

7.1 Defining joint probabilities of compound hazard events

7.1.1 Identification and selection of hazard drivers

When defining the joint probability of compound hazard events, we need to define the respective drivers of each hazard. These drivers could be climate drivers e.g. extra-tropical storm resulting in compound flooding of extreme rainfall with storm surge, or hazard drivers, extreme flood events leading to landslides.

With the identification of these drivers we can begin to assess the probability that these multiple hazards can lead to a compound event known as the joint probability.

7.1.2 Joint probability distributions and correlation

Where hazards share common drivers or interdependencies then their occurrence as a compound hazard will be defined via a joint probability. To define the joint probability of two or more hazards affecting the same region either at the same time or sequentially we need access to historical data relating to the drivers of the respective hazards. Once data for these hazards has been obtained the datasets can be assessed to look for correlation between them. There are a number of approaches for assessing correlation between compound hazards such as Spearman's rank (Bloomfield et al., 2023; Ming et al., 2022), that measures the strength and direction of association between ranked variables. An alternative could be the use of Pearson correlation coefficient that statistically quantifies the strength and direction of the linear relationship between variables where +1 means strong positive





correlation, -1 means strong negative correlation and 0 means no correlation. If the analysis of the hazard datasets has shown the hazards to be correlated a number of approaches could be employed to assess their joint probability such as the use of copula models or Monte Carlo simulations.

Copulas are mathematical constructs originating from risk analysis within the financial sector that were later adopted for use within modelling risks associated with climate driven hazards. They are utilised to analyse the relationship/dependence between variables and have been applied in the context of analysing joint probabilities of compound events such as Pluvial, Fluvial, and Storm Surge flooding (Ming et al., 2022), Extreme Wind and Flood events in GB, and the EU (Bloomfield. et al., 2023) and heatwaves and droughts (Ballarin et al., 2021).

For Monte Carlo simulations, a large number of scenarios based on their individual probability distributions and correlations can be run. Analysis can then be carried out on frequency that both these hazards occur simultaneously (or sequentially) to estimate their joint probability.

7.2 Defining multi-hazard scenarios for current and future climate scenarios

7.2.1 Selection of compound hazard characteristics

When analysing the potential implications of compound hazard events, we first need to define the characteristics of the singular hazards being considered.

One of the challenges from a modelling perspective in the context of return periods (RPs) relates to the variations in model parameters that can correspond to that given RP. For example, in the context of flooding design rainfall events for different RPs can comprise different intensities for different durations. Therefore, for a given RP, there can be a range of intensity and durations that can be selected that can lead to different timings, magnitudes, and spatial distributions of hazards.

When examining the probability that a region may be affected by a given hazard or combination of hazards over time both the probability and the magnitude of that hazard occurring can depend on the previous state of the region. When modelling multi-hazard scenarios various aspects need to be considered including:

- Current State of System
- Time frames being considered
- Combination of Modelled Hazards
 - Return Periods/Probability of occurrence
 - Model parameters
 - Physical Interactions between hazards
 - Spatial distributions of modelled hazards
 - i.e share same spatial extent Vs overlapping spatial extents
- Temporal relationship between hazards
 - Compound Coincident
 - Compound Consecutive





- Inclusion of adaptation and mitigation strategies
 - Where are these measures being applied
 - \circ $\;$ When are these measures being applied with respect to the modelling chain
 - How will these measures influence future states of model

7.3 Modelling interactions between hazards

In deliverable 2.1 details relating to the physical modelling of hazards and their interactions as part of compound coincident and compound consecutive events are outlined. Within this section we highlight methods for modelling a combination and/or sequence of events as shown in Figure 4 where three approaches modelling both the joint probability and magnitudes of these events are specified.

7.3.1 Markov chains

As part of the framework being developed within ICARIA the spatio-temporal relationships between hazards will be examined. From the modelling perspective such relationships can be captured in part via the use of Markov chains, where within a Markov chain the future state of a system is dependent upon the system's current state with this approach aligning with the modelling chain pathways outlined previously in Figure 3. From a multi-hazard modelling perspective, the influence of hazards to a system can be modelled in sequence where the state of the modelling space is updated as the model progresses through the chain. The probability of transitioning between states can be defined either via expert knowledge and/or on historical data, with the joint probability derived from the product of probabilities along the chain. Figure 19 outlines a simplified representation of a Markov chain depicting the probabilities of regions affected by extreme wind, and Flood. In this simplified example there are nine possible transition states (when we include states that feedback on themselves) as shown in Table 2. This example of a Markov chain highlights the prior state dependence whereby we observe a clear distinction between the probability of a region being in a flooded state (S_2) depending on whether its prior state is regarded as either being normal (S_0) or affected by wind [S1]. It is important to note that each of these states will also have a degree of uncertainty associated with them that will need to be considered in the modelling process when transitioning between states. The effects of this uncertainty can be modelled via consideration of variances within the initial starting state and the model parameters within the simulation that define state transitions.







Figure 19. Example simplified Markov chain depicting two hazards

	Normal	Wind	Flood					
Normal	Normal \rightarrow Normal	Normal \rightarrow Wind	Normal \rightarrow Flood					
Wind	Wind \rightarrow Normal	Wind \rightarrow Wind	Wind \rightarrow Flood					
Flood	$Flood \rightarrow Normal$	$Flood \to Wind$	$Flood \to Flood$					

 Table 2. Example transition states

The data relating to state transitions can be written in the form of an adjacency matrix (Figure 20) where we explicitly define the probability of one state based on the condition of the prior state. In this example, the probability of transition from Normal to a Wind hazard affected region, the probability may be known based on the RP of the modelled event. For state transitions however like that of from Wind affected region to Flood affected region the probabilities would need to be determined via joint probability analysis methods. For determining the probability of flooding following an extreme wind event we can first model the potential change conditions to the regions as a result of simulating extreme wind scenarios. These simulations can give a range of potential outcomes for state S_1 .

Note that in this configuration the transition from Flood hazard affected to Wind hazard affected is assumed to be the same as transition from Normal to Wind (P(1)) as flood hazard does not increase the likelihood of wind hazard occurring.





	Normal	Wind	Flood	_
Normal	P[0 0]	P[1]	P[2]	
Wind	P[0 1]	P[1 1]	P[2 1]] = A
Flood	P[0 2]	P[1]	P[2 2]]



Based on this configuration the transition from a normal state to a flooded stated that has previously been affected by wind hazard (Figure 19) for a given combination of RPs for Wind and Flood is given by equation 4 where P(1) refers to the probability of a given Wind hazard event (i) and P(2|1) refers to the probability of a given that Wind hazard event (i) has occurred.



Figure 21. Transition from normal to affected by wind hazard then flood hazard states

This transition from (S_0) to $(S_2)_{i,j}$ represents just one simplified example of transitioning between states. This Markov chain modelling approach however can be expanded to cover a range of hazard combinations and return periods over long time frames iterating transitions over multiple time steps whilst also allowing for the exploration/evaluation of adaptation measures to see how such measures reduce the probability of transitions between states and reduction of risks.

7.3.2 Monte Carlo Simulation

As previously highlighted, the number of variables and permutations associated with developing a multi-hazard perspective of risks within regions are particularly vast. Using a Monte Carlo approach, the variability between parameters within respective hazard models and their interactions can be modelled to estimate the likely outcome of compound consecutive hazards over modelled time frames.

Using a generalised example, consider that we want to evaluate the effect that Hazard Y has on a modelled region. Within a multi-hazard perspective, over time, there are various chains of events that can include Hazard Y. For a simple scenario (Figure 22) let's assume a small chain where Hazard Y occurs either directly from a Normal state or via a transition from a Normal state to a state affected by Hazard X





that is then affected by Hazard Y. The initial state of the modelled region $(\mathbf{S}_0)_i$ is defined with a range of setup parameters i and level of uncertainty (denoted by U_0). The probability to transition from this $(\mathbf{S}_0)_i$ state to a $(\mathbf{S}_1)_{ij}$ state for a given event is given by $P(1)_{ij}$, where j relates to the modelled Hazard X and the resulting conditions of this state now being $(\mathbf{S}_1)_{ij}$. Transitioning from $(\mathbf{S}_1)_{ij}$ to $(\mathbf{S}_2)_{ij,k}$ for a new hazard event Y in this chain with a probability of occurrence of $P(2|1)_{ij,k}$ where k relates to the parameters of the modelled hazard Y results in a final state for the region being $(\mathbf{S}_2)_{ij,k}$. Alternatively the region can reach state $(\mathbf{S}_2)_{ij,k}$ directly from $(\mathbf{S}_0)_i$ for a modelled event with probability of $P(2)_{i,k}$. Therefore depending on the chain of events the resulting end condition of the region can vary. To capture these variations a Monte Carlo based approach can be employed where effects of different parameters i, j, k that relate to the state conditions and modelled hazard characteristics can be explored.





An additional consideration not shown directly in the above example relates to the influence of time within the hazard chain modelling process. For example when modelling compound consecutive dependent events the condition of \mathbf{S}_1 may over time revert back to \mathbf{S}_0 condition thus when modelling the effects of consecutive hazards the temporal aspect needs to be considered.

With the range of potential parameters that can be considered when defining multi-hazard scenarios we need to establish/prioritise which parameters and variables will be assessed. To do this for the modelled hazards we need to:

- **Identify key variables**: Select variables or parameters within the respective hazard models that are of interest and are likely to influence the outcome of simulation
- **Understand sensitivity**: Carryout sensitivity analysis of parameters of potential interest to see how variations in these parameters may influence results
- **Consider uncertainties**: e.g. parameters with higher levels of uncertainty may give greater range of influence on the model
- **Define a balance between complexity and feasibility**: Due to model limitations, data, and resources it may not be feasible to model a vast number of scenarios. Therefore consideration is needed as to level of complexity required in order to provide meaningful results





Based on these considerations the modelling space for Monte Carlo simulations can be defined.

7.3.3 Bayesian Networks

Within the scope of multi-hazard scenarios Bayesian networks can be applied to model the complex interdependencies between different hazards and the potential risks/impacts associated with these hazards. A review of the potential of BNs by (Sperotto et al., (2017) in the context if climate change impacts showed that BNs have potential applications in:

- **System definition**: Combine information from different sources allowing for expert knowledge to be utilised with quantitative data
- **Exploring interactions**: A means of understating the complex interactions between modelled systems.
- **Quantifying interactions**: Enables complex interactions to be quantified in a probabilistic manner and allows for a more overview perspective of interactions to facilitate understanding of the system being analysed.
- **Uncertainty estimation**: Through the incorporation of both data and expert knowledge BNs allow for uncertainty to be expressed in more communicative way
- Risk prioritisation
- Risk management
- Monitor and review

Previous works have demonstrated the use of Bayesian Networks (BNs) for multi-sectorial (Harris et al., 2022) and multi-hazard (Vatteri et al., 2022) perspectives. In Harris et al., (2022), they applied a BN for the assessment of flood risks to different sectors that encompasses variations that considers flood depth (FDE), flood duration (FDU), and Flood Velocity (FDU) as part of the hazard drivers along with variations present in both exposure (Area of reported damage (ARE), and population density (POP)) and vulnerability parameters including land use cover (LU), population under 5 (POP_5), population over 65 (POP_65), number of houses with 1 story (FLO_1), number of houses with more than 1 story (FLO_N), number of houses with good conservation status (Con_G), number of houses with bad conservation status (CON_B), minimum residential market value (MV_MIN), maximum residential market value (MV_MAX), and Digital Elevation Model (DEM) (Figure 23).







Figure 23. Conceptual framework of risk based BN for flood risk assessment (Harris et al., 2022)

From the hazard modelling perspective there are a variety of design/configurations of BNs that could be utilised to define the level of threat posed by compound (coincident and consecutive) hazards. For example Figure 24 depicts a conceptual BN network model where combinations of different RPs for compound flooding events. As highlighted previously in section 4.2, for compound flood events with defined return periods there can be a range of different rainfall values and tide levels that correspond to that return period. Through modelling a range of combinations of rainfall and tide level for each RP we can create a probability distribution that corresponds to the hazard threat level that could be calculated from flood depths and flow velocity distributions that are derived from flood model simulations. This BN with hazard threat levels defined can then be expanded upon to capture variations associated with vulnerability, exposure, and mitigation measures.







Figure 24. Conceptual Bayes Network for compound flooding for defined RPs

7.4 Quantifying and visualising hazards for compound events

From the quantification and visualisation perspective, the depiction of compound hazards events presents a challenge due to the different characteristics relating to each hazard. One approach is to classify hazards according to their relative intensity scales. Table 3 gives examples of three hazard types classified into three intensity classes of "low", "medium", and "high".

Natural Hazard	Intensity Scales							
	Low	Medium	High	Parameters				
Flood	<0.25	0.2-1.25	>1.25	Flood depth (m)				
Forest Fire	<1.2	1.2-2.5	>2.5-3.5	Approximate flame length (m)				
Seismic	<10	1–30	>30	Peak ground horizontal acceleration (%g)				

Table 3. Sample of ARMONIA hazard	intensity classification m	natrix for a regional scale ((Kappes et al.,
	2022)		

Through analysis of historical events and/or modelling a range of hazard scenarios these classes can be expressed in the form of a magnitude-frequency relationship (Figure 25) (Kunz and Hurni., 2008).







Figure 25. Magnitude-Frequency depiction of hazards (Kunz and Hurni., 2008)

The magnitude-frequency classification approach can be applied to multi-hazard assessment for the depiction of multi-hazard assessment that considers the uncertainties present within the multi-hazard modelling along with the range of potential multi-hazard scenarios. For example if we consider a compound consecutive events over a given time period we can analyse the variations in the magnitude of hazards that infrastructures are exposed to that considers uncertainties within the modelling framework and variations in time interval between respective hazards.

Figure 26 depicts an application of the proposed methodology for quantifying the magnitude-frequency distribution of storm winds followed by flooding over a designated time span *T*. For simplicity, the scenarios presented in this example do not depict variations in spatial extent/overlaps, although such spatial considerations can be integrated into scenario definitions.



Figure 26. Example generation of probability distribution curves for compound consecutive hazard scenarios





In this scenario-based modelling approach each grid cell within a modelled domain would have an associated probability distribution function (PDF) generated by the wind hazard modelling that considers the model configuration and uncertainties present in the model. To translate this into a magnitude-hazard score the PDF is divided up according to the intensity scale (Figure 27) and cumulative probabilities are derived considering the upper and lower boundaries as defined in Table 4. For visualising CDF scores spatially the corresponding CDF score for the highest hazard class could be utilised that would convey to the stakeholders the distribution and likelihood of most severe hazards across the modelled region.



Figure 27. Classifying magnitude-frequency relationships for modelled hazards into three classes

Hazard CDF Class	Equation			
Low Hazard CDF	$P(x_{o} \le X \le x_{low}) = \int_{x_{0}}^{x_{low}} g(x) dx$			
Moderate Hazard CDF	$P(x_{low} \le X \le x_{moderate}) = \int_{x_{low}}^{x_{moderate}} g(x) dx$			
High Hazard CDF	$P(X > x_{moderate}) = \int_{x_{moderate}}^{x_{\infty}} g(x) dx$			

Table	4 . Exa	mple	equa	tions	for	derivino	CDF	values	for	hazard	classes
		in pro	oqua			GOLLING	00.	, araoo		nazara	0100000

Continuing with the multi-hazard modelling framework the outputs of the wind hazard model would define the relevant input parameters for the flood model. In this context the physical characteristics





of the modelled region between hazards, these can change over time, either through natural recovery of the region and/or other man-made interventions during this period. Based on a range of modelled scenarios a probability distribution function (PDF) curves for flood hazard will also be created with the derivation of magnitude-frequency scores for this hazard derived in the same manner as wind though with different threshold values for low, moderate, and high hazards.

This PDF to CDF and magnitude-frequency approach can also be applied for compound coincident events, where variations in spatial extents, the range input parameters associated with modelled return periods, and modelled uncertainties can be considered in scenario generation.

In the context of compound coincident events, uncertainties arise from the variations in model configurations and hazard interactions, as well as the wide range of parameters involved in selected scenarios. As highlighted earlier in Figure 9, for a given return period, a compound coincident flood event may encompass a diverse range of storm surge wave heights and rainfall intensities combinations. As such the magnitude and extent of flooding within the modelled region may vary. By using a PDF representation of the hazard metrics for a range of these combinations a PDF representation of compound coincident hazard can be depicted.

For the latter impact assessment side the generated PDF curves ($g_x(x)$) can be utilised with vulnerability data such as fragility curves ($F_r(x)$) to determine its limit state probability (P_f) that represents its probability of failure with respect to modelled hazard (Lee and Rosowsky., (2006)) (Figure 28). From a monetary loss perspective the fragility curve ($F_r(x)$) can be replaced with hazard Vs damage functions such as for in the context of flooding depth-damage curves.









8 Conclusions

Over the last couple of decades there has been significant increase in research related to investigating multi-hazard events, driven, in part by the increased frequency of such events occurring and their impacts across different sector (Tripathy et al., 2023), and improvements in modelling and mathematical approaches for quantifying the impacts and likelihood of these events occurring.

Within the context of understanding the risks that climate hazards pose to a region, it is thus important from a multi-hazard perspective, to have a more comprehensive understanding of risks and facilitate policy makers in defining effective adaptation measures.

As part of Work Package 2: Modelling and multi-hazard assessment in ICARIA this document outlines a general overview of the different hazards being assessed across the three case studies and approaches that can be utilised for assessing the likelihood of compound coincident and compound consecutive hazards occurring.

As a generalise summary framework for understanding mechanisms for defining the level of threats posed from multi-hazard events the document suggests the following:

- 1. **Hazards that the region is susceptible to**: Identify which hazards pose significant risks to the region
- 2. **Hazard classification metrics**: Define the metrics used for determining the magnitude and probability of occurrence for modelled hazards
- 3. **Causality of hazard drivers**: Through a combination of expert knowledge and the analysis of historical hazard driver data establish whether the drivers of modelled hazard events are correlated
- 4. **Physical interactions between hazards**: Define if and how hazards interact with each other including:
 - a. how one hazard influences the magnitude of the other hazard
 - b. if one hazard triggers or increases the likelihood of another hazard occurring
- 5. **Define compound hazard scenarios**: Based on the prior points, define the joint probabilities for compound events and select the compound scenarios of interest for modelling within the region.
- 6. **Methods for quantification of compound hazards**: With physical interactions on probabilities defined, establish a method for quantification of compound hazard scores so that the model results can be utilised for risk and impact assessments.

Using the findings within this document the next steps will be to define the models, and compound scenarios for each of the modelled compound hazard configurations across the case studies as part of tasks 2.3 Coupled hazard models: methodology and tools, and task 2.4 WP2 lab: testing of methods and tools.





References

- Ali, F. H., & Osman, N. (2008). Shear Strength of a Soil Containing Vegetation Roots. Soils and Foundations, 48(4), 587–596. <u>https://doi.org/10.3208/sandf.48.587</u>
- Andrews, P. L., Loftsgaarden, D. O., & Bradshaw, L. S. (2003). Evaluation of fire danger rating indexes using logistic regression and percentile analysis. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, *12*(2), 213–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF02059</u>
- Ballarin, A. S., Barros, G. L., Cabrera, M. C. M., & Wendland, E. C. (2021). A copula-based drought assessment framework considering global simulation models. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies, 38*, 100970. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2021.100970
- Bloomfield H.C., Hillier J., Griffin A., Kay A.L., Shaffrey L.C., Pianosi F., James R., Kumar D., Champion A., Bates P.D., (2023). Co-occurring wintertime flooding and extreme wind over Europe, from daily to seasonal timescales. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, *39*, 100550. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2023.100550</u>
- Butler, D., James Digman, C., Makropoulos, C., & Davies, J. W. (2018). *Urban Drainage*. CRC Press LLC. <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/exeter/detail.action?docID=5303411</u>
- Calvin, K., Dasgupta, D., Krinner, G., Mukherji, A., Thorne, P. W., Trisos, C., Romero, J., Aldunce, P., Barrett, K., Blanco, G., Cheung, W. W. L., Connors, S., Denton, F., Diongue-Niang, A., Dodman, D., Garschagen, M., Geden, O., Hayward, B., Jones, C., ... Ha, M. (2023). IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647
- Chen, A. (2022). Evaluating the relationships between wildfires and drought using machine learning. International Journal of Wildland Fire, 31(3), 230–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF21145</u>
- De Pippo, T., Donadio, C., Pennetta, M., Petrosino, C., Terlizzi, F., & Valente, A. (2008). Coastal hazard assessment and mapping in Northern Campania, Italy. Geomorphology, 97(3), 451–466. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2007.08.015
- European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Marin Ferrer, M., Poljanšek, K., Clark, I. et al., Science for disaster risk management 2017 – Knowing better and losing less, Marin Ferrer, M.(editor), Poljanšek, K.(editor), Clark, I.(editor), De Groeve, T.(editor), Publications Office, 2017, <u>https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2788/842809</u>
- Forzieri, G., Feyen, L., Russo, S., Vousdoukas, M., Alfieri, L., Outten, S., Migliavacca, M., Bianchi, A., Rojas, R., & Cid, A. (2016). Multi-hazard assessment in Europe under climate change. *Climatic Change*, 137(1), 105–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1661-x</u>





- Harris, R., Furlan, E., Pham, H. V., Torresan, S., Mysiak, J., & Critto, A. (2022). A Bayesian network approach for multi-sectoral flood damage assessment and multi-scenario analysis. Climate Risk Management, 35, 100410. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2022.100410</u>
- ICARIA. (2023a). Deliverable 3.1 Tangible impacts assessment methods. Project ICARIA, grant agreement number 101093806
- ICARIA. (2023b). Deliverable 1.1 ICARIA holistic modelling framework. Project ICARIA, grant agreement number 101093806
- ICARIA. (2023c). Deliverable 2.1 Holistic modelling framework for multi-hazard events. Project ICARIA, grant agreement number 101093806
- IPCC (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Core Writing Team: Pörtner, H.O., Roberts, D.C., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E.S., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (eds.)). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 3056 pp.
- Judith N. Claassen, Philip J. Ward, James Daniell, Elco E. Koks, Timothy Tiggeloven, & Marleen C. de Ruiter. (2023). A new method to compile global multi-hazard event sets. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-40400-5
- Kappes, M. S., Keiler, M., von Elverfeldt, K., & Glade, T. (2012). Challenges of analyzing multi-hazard risk: a review. Natural Hazards, 64(2), 1925–1958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-012-0294-2</u>
- Kettle, A. J. (2020). Storm Xaver over Europe in December 2013: Overview of energy impacts and North Sea events. *Advances in Geosciences*, *54*, 137–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/adgeo-54-137-2020</u>
- Laura Hielkema, Jasmijn Suidman, & Catalina Jaime. (2021). *Multi-Hazard Risk Analysis Methodologies*.<u>https://www.anticipation-hub.org/news/multi-hazard-risk-analysis-methodologies</u>
- Lee, K. H., & Rosowsky, D. V. (2006). Fragility analysis of woodframe buildings considering combined snow and earthquake loading. Structural Safety, 28(3), 289–303. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.strusafe.2005.08.002
- Littell, J. S., Peterson, D. L., Riley, K. L., Liu, Y., & Luce, C. H. (2016). A review of the relationships between drought and forest fire in the United States. Global Change Biology, 22(7), 2353–2369. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13275
- Ming, X., Liang, Q., Dawson, R., Xia, X., & Hou, J. (2022). A quantitative multi-hazard risk assessment framework for compound flooding considering hazard inter-dependencies and interactions. *Journal of Hydrology*, 607, 127477. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2022.127477</u>
- National Integrated Drought Information System. (Accessed 02/2024). Wildfire Management. <u>https://www.drought.gov/sectors/wildfire-management</u>





- Nicola Gagliardi, Pedro Arévalo, & Stéphanie Pamies. (2022). The Fiscal Impact of Extreme Weather and Climate Events: Evidence for EU Countries.
- Peter Hawkes, & Cecilia Svensson. (2005). Joint Probability: Dependence Mapping and Best Practice: Technical report on dependence mapping.
- Richardson, D., Black, A. S., Irving, D., Matear, R. J., Monselesan, D. P., Risbey, J. S., Squire, D. T., & Tozer, C. R. (2022). Global increase in wildfire potential from compound fire weather and drought. *Npj Climate and Atmospheric Science*, *5*(1), 23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41612-022-00248-4</u>
- Rossiello, M. R., & Szema, A. (2019). Health Effects of Climate Change-induced Wildfires and Heatwaves. *Cureus*, 11(5), e4771. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.4771</u>
- Russo, B., de la Cruz Coronas, À., Leone, M., Evans, B., Brito, R. S., Havlik, D., Bügelmayer-Blaschek, M., Pacheco, D., & Sfetsos, A. (2023). Improving Climate Resilience of Critical Assets: The ICARIA Project. *Sustainability*, 15(19). https://doi.org/10.3390/su151914090
- Scott, J. H., & Burgan, R. E. (2005). Standard fire behavior fuel models: a comprehensive set for use with Rothermel's surface fire spread model. <u>https://doi.org/10.2737/rmrs-gtr-153</u>
- Sfetsos, A., Giroud, F., Clemencau, A., Varela, V., Freissinet, C., LeCroart, J., Vlachogiannis, D., Politi, N., Karozis, S., Gkotsis, I., Eftychidis, G., Hedel, R., & Hahmann, S. (2021). Assessing the Effects of Forest Fires on Interconnected Critical Infrastructures under Climate Change. Evidence from South France. Infrastructures, 6(2), 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/infrastructures6020016</u>
- Sperotto, A., Molina, J.-L., Torresan, S., Critto, A., & Marcomini, A. (2017). Reviewing Bayesian Networks potentials for climate change impacts assessment and management: A multi-risk perspective. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 202, 320–331. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.07.044
- Sutanto, S. J., Vitolo, C., Di Napoli, C., D'Andrea, M., & Van Lanen, H. A. J. (2020). Heatwaves, droughts, and fires: Exploring compound and cascading dry hazards at the pan-European scale. *Environment International*, *134*, 105276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105276</u>
- Tripathy, K. P., Mukherjee, S., Mishra, A. K., Mann, M. E., & Williams, A. P. (2023). Climate change will accelerate the high-end risk of compound drought and heatwave events. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 120(28). <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2219825120</u>
- Tsoutsos, M.-C. (2023). Cascading Effects of Major Natural Hazards in Greece. Proceedings, 87(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/IECG2022-13958
- United Nations Headquarters United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction. (2015). Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030.





- Vatteri, A. P., D'Ayala, D., & Gehl, P. (2022). Bayesian networks for assessment of disruption to school systems under combined hazards. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 74, 102924. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2022.102924
- Wang, C., Li, Z., Chen, Y., Ouyang, L., Li, Y., Sun, F., Liu, Y., & Zhu, J. (2023). Drought-heatwave compound events are stronger in drylands. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, *42*, 100632. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2023.100632</u>
- Xu K, Ma C, Lian J, Bin L (2014) Joint Probability Analysis of Extreme Precipitation and Storm Tide in a Coastal City under Changing Environment. PLOS ONE 9(10): e109341. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109341
- Zellou, B., & Rahali, H. (2019). Assessment of the joint impact of extreme rainfall and storm surge on the risk of flooding in a coastal area. *Journal of Hydrology*, *569*, 647–665. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2018.12.028</u>
- Zhuang, Y., Xing, A., Petley, D., Jiang, Y., Sun, Q., Bilal, M., & Yan, J. (2023). Elucidating the impacts of trees on landslide initiation throughout a typhoon: Preferential infiltration, wind load and root reinforcement.
 Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 48(15), 3128–3141.
 <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.5686</u>
- Zuccaro, G., De Gregorio, D., & Leone, M. F. (2018). Theoretical model for cascading effects analyses. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 30, 199–215. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2018.04.019





Annex A: Data Management Statement

Table A1.1. Data used in preparation of ICARIA Deliverable 2.2

Dataset name	Format	Size	Owner and re-use conditions	Potential Utility within and outside ICARIA	Unique ID
n/a					

Table A1.2. Data produced in preparation of ICARIA Deliverable 2.2

Dataset name	Format	Size	Owner and re-use conditions	Potential Utility within and outside ICARIA	Unique ID
n/a					





More info: www.icaria-project.eu





This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 101093806. The publication reflects only the authors' views and the European Union is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.